Document of The World Bank

Report No.:

PARTNERSHIP INVESTMENT FUND BRIEF

ON A

PROPOSED GRANT FROM THE GLOBAL ENVIRONMENT FACILITY TRUST FUND

IN THE AMOUNT OF USD 35 MILLION

FOR THE FIRST TRANCHE OF A GEF USD 80 MILLION

PARTNERSHIP INVESTMENT FUND FOR POLLUTION REDUCTION IN THE LARGE MARINE ECOSYSTEMS OF EAST ASIA

September 28, 2005

Abbreviations and Acronyms

BOD Biochemical Oxygen Demand CAS Country Assistance Strategy CEO Chief Executive Officer EAP East Asia and Pacific

EASUR East Asia Urban Development Sector Unit

GDP Gross Domestic Product
GEF Global Environmental Facility

GIWA Global International Waters Assessment

IBRD International Bank for Reconstruction and Development

ICM Integrated Coastal Management

IDA International Development AssociationIFI International Financial InstitutionIMO International Maritime Organization

IW:LEARN International Waters Resource Center website

LME Large Marine Ecosystems

N Nitrogen

NGO Non-Governmental Organization OPS3 Third Overall Performance Survey

P Phosphorus

PAD Project Appraisal Document PDR People's Democratic Republic

PEMSEA Partnerships in Environmental Managements for the Seas of East Asia

POI Plan of Implementation PSC Project Steering Committee

S-CS Sulu-Celebes Sea SCS South China Sea

SDS-SEA Sustainable Development Strategy for the Seas of East Asia

SP Strategic Priorities
TTL Task Team Leader

UNDP United Nations Development Programme

VN Vietnam WB World Bank

WSSD World Summit on Sustainable Development

WWF World Wide Fund for Nature CI Conservation International WI Wetlands International

IUCN International Union for the Conservations of Nature (World Conservation Union)

Vice-President: Jemal ud-din (Jamil) Kassum

Sector Manager: Keshav Varma Task Team Leader: Mara Warwick

Table of Contents

A. ST	RATEGIC CONTEXT AND RATIONALE	4
1.	Region and Sector Issues	4
2.	Rationale for the Partnership Investment Fund	
3.	Rationale for World Bank and GEF Involvement	
4.	World Bank Commitment to the Fund	10
5.	Country Ownership	10
6.	Conformity of the Fund with GEF Priorities	11
7.	Partnership Investment Fund Approval	12
B. PA	RTNERSHIP INVESTMENT FUND DESCRIPTION	13
8.	Objective of the Fund	13
9.	Design of the Fund	13
10.	Types of Sub-projects	14
11.	Sub-project Financing and Cost Effectiveness	15
12.	Sub-project Eligibility Criteria	16
13.	Sub-project Processing Procedure	16
14.	Sub-projects Under Preparation	17
C. IM	IPLEMENTATION	19
15.	Implementation Arrangements	19
16.	Monitoring and Evaluation	19
17.	Replication	20
18.	Dissemination	21
19.	Scaling up of monitoring and evaluation, replication, and dissemination	22
20.	Sustainability	
21.	Critical Risks and Controversial Aspects	22
22	Stakeholder Consultation	23

A. STRATEGIC CONTEXT AND RATIONALE

1. Region and Sector Issues

Threats to the sustainability of the seas of East Asia

The seas of East Asia, defined as the Yellow Sea, the East China Sea, the South China Sea, the Gulf of Thailand, the Sulu-Celebes (Sulawesi) Sea, and the Indonesian Seas – six large marine ecosystems (LMEs)¹ that are inter-connected by natural processes, ocean currents, and shared living marine resources – are under increasing pressure from East Asia's rapid increase in population and industrialization. As the source of livelihood for millions of inhabitants of the region, and having globally significant marine biodiversity, the impacts of degradation in these seas are regionally and globally significant.

In 1995, in light of the rapid economic development of the region, and the equally rapid degradation of their marine resources, twelve East Asian countries came together with a common vision to ensure the sustainable development of their shared waters. This partnership of governments, with the support of the Global Environment Facility (GEF), United Nations Development Program (UNDP), and the International Maritime Organization (IMO), created the *Partnerships in Environmental Management for the Seas of East Asia* (PEMSEA), a collaborative organization of representatives of the governments of the coastal countries of East Asia. PEMSEA is led by a group of country delegates called the Programme Steering Committee, whose purpose is to make strategic decisions and agreements about priority actions that should be undertaken by the countries individually, and by the regional collaboration as a whole.

One of the main achievements of the countries through their contribution to PEMSEA has been the development and adoption of the *Sustainable Development Strategy for the Seas of East Asia* (SDS-SEA), which was endorsed by each of the twelve countries in the *Putrajaya Declaration* on December 12, 2003.³ The SDS-SEA is significant as it is the first, and the broadest, partnership agreement in the region on the issue of managing the regional seas. The mission of SDS-SEA is:

To build interagency, intersectoral, and intergovernmental partnerships for achieving the sustainable development of the Seas of East Asia.

¹ Large Marine Ecosystems (LMEs) are regions of ocean space encompassing coastal areas from river basins and estuaries to the seaward boundaries of continental shelves and the outer margin of the major current systems. They are relatively large regions on the order of 200 000 km² or greater, characterized by distinct: (1) bathymetry, (2) hydrography, (3) productivity, and (4) trophically dependent populations (http://www.giwa.net).

² The original twelve countries included Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, China, Indonesia, Japan, DPR Korea, R.O. Korea, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam. Three additional countries joined in 2005 (Lao PDR, Myanmar and Timor-Leste) making a current total of 15.

³ Putrajaya Declaration of Regional Cooperation for the Sustainable Development of the Seas of East Asia, Putrajaya, Malaysia, December 2003.

SDS-SEA attributes the following *values* to the seas of East Asia: ecological, resource, economic, aesthetic, recreational, historical, political, educational and cultural. It further identifies the *threats* to the maintenance of these values, and develops a *shared vision* of actions that would serve to sustain, preserve and protect these values for the future. While the SDS-SEA addresses priority issues in several sectors including land-based pollution, fisheries, marine transport, biodiversity, habitat preservation, and coastal management, it identifies land-based pollution (particularly in hotspots) as the primary threat to the seas of East Asia.⁴

The impact of land-based pollution in the East Asia Seas is recognized as having regional and transboundary significance because the ocean is a medium through which pollutants are relatively easily transmitted. The impacts of land-based pollution such as widespread eutrophication, health hazards, and degradation of fisheries and spawning grounds, are felt by all countries in the region. Furthermore, insofar as the seas of East Asia are a major economic resource for the world's demand for fishery and aquaculture products, and a major natural heritage and biodiversity resource for the people of the world, these impacts have global significance.

The conclusion drawn by the countries of East Asia in the SDS-SEA that land-based pollution is the primary threat to the sustainable management of the seas of East Asia is supported by other analyses, including those of the World Bank. Pollution discharges from land-based human activities in coastal areas in East Asia, including municipal, industrial, and agricultural wastes, contribute the majority of the ambient pollution in the seas of East Asia (see Annex 1). Only 11% of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) generated in East Asia is removed through treatment prior to discharge, and billions of tonnes of wastewater are being discharged annually from coastal cities without treatment. About ten million tonnes of fertilizers are used each year in coastal areas, adding to the already excessive nutrient load in rivers, lakes, and marine waters.

In 1999, the Bohai Sea, Yellow Sea, and East China Sea received 1.5 billion tonnes of industrial wastewater discharged from twelve major coastal cities in China. Rivers such as the Yellow and Yangtze carried over 11 million tonnes of major pollutants into the sea. A report on the condition of China's seas in 2004 stated that 27,000 km² (35% of China's marine waters) failed to reach national marine water standards with the most significant pollutants being inorganic nitrogen and phosphates.⁶

The greatest pressure on the seas of East Asia has resulted from the globally unprecedented rate of urbanization in East Asia over the last decade. Much of this urbanization has been concentrated in coastal areas, with a resulting rapid increase in the number of large cities in East Asia's coastal regions: by the year 2000, seven coastal mega-cities, each with a population of

⁴ PEMSEA, 2003. Sustainable Development Strategy for the Seas of East Asia. page 49

⁵ World Bank, 2005. *Environment Strategy for the World Bank in the East Asia and Pacific Region*, World Bank: Washington D.C.

⁶ China State Oceanic Administration Report, 2004. http://www.people.com.cn/GB/huanbao/8220/37746/39568/2926423.html

⁷ World Bank, 2005. *Environment Strategy for the World Bank in the East Asia and Pacific Region*, World Bank: Washington D.C.

over 10 million inhabitants, were located in East Asia, ⁸ out of a total of 16 mega-cities worldwide. While the rise of coastal cities has contributed greatly to the development of the region with their contribution to economic growth estimated at 70% of the region's total economic growth, ⁹ a lack of investment in environmental infrastructure, and limited governance capacity in the environmental sector in many East Asian countries, has restricted the countries' ability to mitigate the environmental risks of rapid development.

The region's Global International Waters Assessment (GIWA), ¹⁰ completed in 2005, provides further support to the conclusion that land-based pollution is a major threat to the seas of East Asia. This analysis, also supported by GEF, and following the international framework adopted by GEF for identifying environmental problems, has conducted detailed assessments of the seas of East Asia, and has prioritized interventions for these problems.

The response

With the ultimate goal of reducing the ambient levels of pollution in the seas of East Asia, the following three main responses to land-based pollution are needed:

- *Reduce* existing sources of pollution through optimizing the utilization of existing pollution control assets and initiating new investment in pollution reduction;
- *Prevent* new pollution sources through regulatory control, including enforcement and the provision of incentives;
- Prevent *migration* of pollution across boundaries within the region through collaboration between countries and a joint commitment to ensure that pollution is reduced or prevented, not merely exported from place to place.

A large and diverse group of stakeholders each have a role to play in ensuring that the required actions to reduce land-based pollution take place. These include: *citizens and civil society*, whose role is to exercise responsibility towards the environment and to demand it of the private and public sectors; *national and local governments*, whose role is to formulate strategies and plans and to provide a policy and investment environment that enables and encourages financiers to target pollution projects; *the private sector*, whose role is in ensuring corporate responsibility towards the environment, and to channel private sector financing, where possible, into projects that reduce or prevent pollution; *financial institutions and donors*, whose role is to prioritize financial support and technical assistance, and to help countries leverage other financing sources to ensure maximum scaling up of implementation activities; and, *international organizations*, whose role is to support all other stakeholders by building capacity, promoting regional cooperation and catalyzing national and local efforts. Above all, collaboration of the many stakeholders who often have very diverse values, objectives and interests, is a necessary condition for the successful management of the seas of East Asia.

_

⁸ The seven existing coastal mega-cities in East Asia are: Tokyo, Shanghai, Beijing, Tianjin Jakarta, Osaka, and Seoul. Metro Manila and Bangkok will soon reach mega-city status.

⁹ World Bank, 2004. *East Asia and Pacific Urban Business Directions*. Working Paper N° 5. Urban Development Working Papers. World Bank: Washington D.C

¹⁰ http://www.giwa.net

¹¹ Rephrased from PEMSEA, 2003. Sustainable Development Strategy for the Seas of East Asia. Pages 43-45.

The status quo - collaboration on planning but fragmented implementation

The first step in developing the necessary collaboration between stakeholders has been led by the governments of the region with the support of international organizations such as the Global Environment Facility (GEF), the World Bank, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), and the International Maritime Organization (IMO). This intergovernmental collaboration has been exercised through a series of regional projects that have focused primarily on analysis of the problems facing the seas of East Asia, and planning for the necessary responses. Most of these initial efforts have been supported by GEF, for example through the PEMSEA program and other sub-regional, national and sub-national initiatives such as the UNEP/GEF South China Sea Project and the UNDP/GEF Yellow Sea Project.

In addition, the countries of the region have started to develop policies and national programs to protect coastal resources. Some of these activities have been supported internationally by organizations such as GEF, the World Bank, the Asian Development Bank and others; for example, the WB/GEF Straits of Malacca Marine Electronic Highway Project, the WB/GEF Guangdong Pearl River Delta Urban Environment Project, and the proposed WB/GEF Livestock Waste Management in East Asia Project.

All of the existing regional, sub-regional and national efforts represent a significant step forward for addressing the ever-worsening situation in the seas of East Asia. However, these existing efforts have limitations. For example, there has been a strong emphasis on the *diagnosis* of pollution problems, and *planning* for the future, but very limited focused, coordinated, strategic physical *investment*. Because of the persistence of institutional, financial and technical barriers, private sector investment in pollution reduction in coastal areas has been very low and most of the public investment has been in traditional, capital-intensive technological facilities that are not likely to provide the most efficient least-cost solution for the long-term.

A call to action – the opportunity provided by GEF's Strategic Partnership modality

The countries of East Asia have recognized that a more coordinated and innovative approach, which includes a strong focus on implementation and investment, beyond diagnosis and planning, is urgently needed. Barriers that limit investment in pollution hotspots need to be identified and strategic actions taken to remove them. New, cost-effective technologies and techniques need to be tested in the region. New sources of finance, especially private financing, need to be catalyzed through innovation in the design of financing mechanisms for pollution reduction projects.

The establishment of GEF's new operational modality in its fourth replenishment period ¹² – the Strategic Partnership – provides East Asia with an opportunity to undertake the necessary actions. As defined by GEF, a Strategic Partnership consists of a major component, the Investment Fund (hosted by a multilateral bank), accompanied by a parallel project for regional capacity building, coordination and replication. The *WB/GEF Nutrient Reduction Investment Fund for the Black Sea/Danube Strategic Partnership*, which was approved by the GEF Council on May 9, 2001 (GEF/C.17/7), and whose second and third tranches were approved in May 2002

_

¹² GEF-4, which would be implemented from 2006-2010.

and May 2003 respectively, is a good example of this type of GEF modality. GEF allocated a total of US\$70 million to the Black Sea/Danube Fund over six years.

Strategic Partnership for Sustainable Development of the Seas of East Asia

The countries of East Asia, in collaboration with GEF, the World Bank, UNDP and IMO, have proposed to establish a Strategic Partnership to implement the SDS-SEA and to catalyze and scale-up investment in land-based pollution reduction in coastal areas in East Asia. The Strategic Partnership would comprise two parallel components, a *Financing Component* (i.e., the Fund), and a *Regional Component*, both of which have achieved GEF pipeline entry: ¹³

- The Financing Component, entitled the WB/GEF Partnership Investment Fund for Pollution Reduction in the Large Marine Ecosystems of East Asia (the Fund), would be a key element of the Strategic Partnership and one of the primary financing arms of the land-based pollution reduction activities proposed in the SDS-SEA. The Fund would provide a mechanism through which the World Bank's East Asia and Pacific Region would engage with the participating countries and other stakeholders, including the private sector, to ensure the World Bank's investment and knowledge-building activities in the region contribute more effectively and on a larger scale to the countries' initiatives to: remove barriers to investment in pollution control; demonstrate innovative technologies and techniques; and, establish sustainable financing mechanisms for pollution control.
- The Regional Component, entitled the *UNDP/GEF Implementation of the Sustainable Development Strategy for the Seas of East Asia Project*, would be implemented in parallel with the Fund, and would be responsible for stakeholder coordination. The Regional Component would be established with the current PEMSEA Programme Steering Committee as its core, expanded to include invited representatives of international financing organizations, international donor organizations, regional and bilateral organizations, and private sector representatives. It would seek to establish agreements on national, sub-regional and regional initiatives and would monitor the results of all activities. Further, the Regional Component would establish a Regional Resource Facility to support the overall Strategic Partnership and the Fund by taking primary responsibility for regional dissemination of lessons learned and for catalyzing replication of pollution reduction activities. It is expected that the Regional Component would be submitted to the GEF Council for work program entry in mid-2006.

Together, these two components, implemented in parallel but with close coordination, would provide a mechanism for GEF, the World Bank, and UNDP to mainstream the objectives of the SDS-SEA into their regular programs, thus promoting greater sustainability and political commitment to the effort. Each would use its comparative advantages to strategically assist the countries in reaching their objectives. For the World Bank, this includes utilizing its political convening power, financial leveraging capacity, and global knowledge, to support countries as they take the necessary actions to implement full on-the-ground operations in support of reforms, investments, and management programs needed to implement the SDS-SEA and to ensure the transition to sustainable development of the seas of East Asia.

Page 8

¹³ The Partnership Investment Fund achieved GEF pipeline entry in March 2004, while the Regional Component achieved pipeline entry in April 2005.

It is intended that the support provided by GEF to catalyze this initiative would be limited to a ten-year period, after which the countries of East Asia would have developed the capacity and experience to establish their own long-term, self-sustaining mechanism. Through the innovative activities undertaken under the Strategic Partnership, the countries would have developed a more supportive policy and investment environment. Moreover, it is intended that by the end of the implementation period of the Strategic Partnership, the objectives of the SDS-SEA would be firmly mainstreamed into the operations of the World Bank and other participating organizations.

2. Rationale for the Partnership Investment Fund

The successful implementation of the SDS-SEA, which has attracted high-level country commitment, requires the mobilization of significant new international, regional, and domestic investments in pollution control, coastal and environmental planning and management, and local capacity building. Country consultations have revealed that, without new financial incentives and stronger collaboration between international and domestic donors and financiers through an overall program such as the proposed Strategic Partnership, actions taken to close the gap between water pollution reduction policies and on-the-ground investments in environmental infrastructure may be too little too late.

The proposed Fund would play a critical role in assisting countries remove the institutional, technical and financial barriers that have limited investment in pollution reduction. The Fund would direct investments and activities towards pollution hotspots and would help to coordinate and promote additional investment in local actions that achieve regional and global environment and development benefits. It would also encourage lessons from successful pollution reduction projects to be disseminated and replicated throughout the region.

3. Rationale for World Bank and GEF Involvement

GEF support through the Strategic Partnership modality is needed to (a) overcome the barriers that prevent public and private sector investment in land-based pollution reduction; and (b) promote innovation in technology, institutional arrangements and policy frameworks. In the absence of GEF support, barriers would continue to limit investment opportunities: investors would simply continue on a "business-as-usual" track. Moreover, without GEF's catalytic function, organizations like the World Bank would have difficulty mainstreaming SDS-SEA activities into their programs.

The World Bank is a natural choice as the host of the Fund. Land-based pollution reduction is a key priority of the World Bank in its investment, policy and capacity building activities in the East Asia and Pacific Region (EAP), and the objectives of the Fund are fully consistent with the World Bank's corporate and regional environment strategies. ¹⁴ IBRD and IDA lending for environmental management in the EAP region is currently about \$1 billion per year. Key foci of EAP's environmental activities include environmental policy reform at the national and subnational levels, support for reducing air and water pollution in urban, peri-urban and rural areas,

Page 9

_

¹⁴ World Bank, 2001. *Making Sustainable Commitments. An Environment Strategy for the World Bank.* World Bank, Washington D.C.; World Bank, 2005, *Environment Strategy for the World Bank in the East Asia and Pacific Region*, World Bank: Washington D.C

strengthening local capacity in environmental management, reforming environmental service utilities, providing financially sustainable environmental services, developing new mechanisms for financing environmental infrastructure, reducing poverty, preserving cultural heritage, and encouraging private sector participation in environmental management.

The World Bank's EAP Region places high priority on supporting activities that promote regional collaboration for shared goals. Therefore, the World Bank is keen to support the countries of the region through mainstreaming SDS-SEA activities into the EAP Region's lending operations, capacity building activities, and support for national and sub-national policy development. The establishment of the Fund and the inclusion of the World Bank as a collaborator with the Regional Component of the Strategic Partnership would provide a critical mechanism through which this would occur, allowing the World Bank to contribute its considerable global experience to scaling up investments in land-based pollution control.

4. World Bank Commitment to the Fund

As the lead agency responsible for implementation of the Fund, the World Bank commits to:

- Being a champion for land-based pollution reduction in the seas of East Asia, and helping to mobilize investment resources in collaboration with stakeholders;
- Taking responsibility for overall Fund management and oversight;
- Promoting SDS-SEA objectives and Fund activities in country dialogues;
- Promoting inclusion of the objectives of the SDS-SEA in World Bank Country Assistance Strategies (CAS);
- Developing ways in which the implementation of the SDS-SEA can be mainstreamed into the World Bank EAP Region's activities, including but not limited to its policy dialogues and lending program;
- Working closely with the Regional Component to maximize coordination and synergies.

5. Country Ownership

Country Eligibility

Only countries eligible for GEF financing under para. 9(b) of the GEF Instrument, and eligible for IBRD and/or IDA financing, would be eligible to receive financing from the Fund. These include Cambodia, China, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, Timor-Leste, and Vietnam. The respective GEF focal points would endorse individual projects as they are presented for funding to ensure consistency with the country's policies and national priorities.

Country Driven-ness

The first demonstration of the commitment by twelve coastal states of the East Asian region to addressing environmental issues was the preparation of the SDS-SEA and their signing of the *Putrajaya Declaration*. As preparation of the Strategic Partnership has progressed, the countries of the region have contributed to the design of both the Fund and the Regional Component. The

Fund concept was presented to the 10th PEMSEA Project Steering Committee Meeting held in Xiamen, China, from October 25-29, 2004, and to the 11th PEMSEA Project Steering Committee Meeting held at Siem Reap, Cambodia, August 3, 2005. Both meetings endorsed the design and objectives of the Fund. Further, the 11th PEMSEA Project Steering Committee Meeting confirmed the importance of the Fund as a critical component of the Strategic Partnership, and issued a Resolution supporting the Fund proposal (refer Annex 2).

Each sub-project proposed under the Fund would be required to obtain the endorsement of its GEF Country Focal Point prior to any request for PDF resources. To date, GEF Focal Point endorsement has been requested and received for four sub-projects already admitted to the GEF project pipeline, namely, China Ningbo Water and Environment Project, Philippines Manila Third Sewerage Project, Vietnam Coastal Cities Project, and a WB/GEF Project Preparation Revolving Fund.

As reflected in the World Bank Country Assistance Strategies (CAS) of East Asian countries, the reduction of water-borne pollution is a key priority in the region, and therefore the objectives of the Fund, and all sub-projects proposed under the Fund, are consistent with the broad goals of the countries in their engagement with the World Bank. As new CASs are developed in East Asia, it is intended that the Fund would be specifically included as an engagement through which the World Bank would assist countries to meet their regional and global environmental responsibilities.

6. Conformity of the Fund with GEF Priorities

Conformity with GEF Operational Program (OP) 10

GEF's Operational Strategy lays the foundation for its efforts in six focal areas. This proposed Fund falls under its *International Waters* (IW) focal area.

Because water does not respect national boundaries, multi-country actions are necessary to foster sustainable development of the large marine and freshwater eco-systems which cover most of the earth. Through its International Waters focal area the GEF helps countries collaborate with their neighbors to modify human activities that place stress on these trans-boundary water systems and interfere with downstream uses of those resources. In this way, water use conflicts can be prevented, security improved, and sustainable resource use fostered in support of global goals.

Within its IW focal area, this Fund is further classified under GEF OP 10, its *Contaminant-based Operational Program*. Here, GEF works with countries to demonstrate ways of overcoming barriers to the adoption of practices that limit contamination of international water systems. Projects under this operational program are often also aimed at deriving and disseminating lessons learned from, and sharing information among, other international waters projects.

Conformity with GEF Strategic Priorities 1 and 3

Furthermore, the Fund and each of the proposed/approved sub-projects meets the following criteria under GEF Strategic Priorities (SP) 1 and 3 for FY03 – 06 in the International Waters focal area.

Strategic Priority 1: Catalyze Financial Resources for Implementation of Agreed Actions

SP 1's objective is to mobilize financial resources to implement policy, legal, and institutional reforms and stress-reducing investments agreed upon by the countries sharing a particular water body. The countries have typically agreed upon the implementation measures through the development of a Strategic Action Program (SAP) and strategic partnerships with investment funds are being piloted as efficient models for implementation.

With respect to SP 1, the Fund will facilitate the efforts of nations that signed the *Putrajaya Declaration* to mobilize financial resources for addressing a priority trans-boundary water issue (land-based pollution of a shared water body) that is highlighted in the Declaration. Furthermore, as called for by SP 1, these resource mobilization efforts are mainstreamed into a long-term initiative of a GEF agency, in this case the World Bank, under the framework of a Strategic Partnership among nations and the GEF agencies that support the World Summit on Sustainable Development's (WSSD) Plan of Implementation outcomes.

<u>Strategic Priority 3</u>: Undertake Innovative Demonstrations for Reducing Contaminants and Addressing Water Scarcity and Competing Water Uses.

SP 3's objective is to use demonstration projects to test the feasibility of innovative technology and methodologies to address such priority transboundary concerns as balancing competing uses of water resources in basins, preventing introduction of alien species, reducing land-based pollution, or preventing contaminant releases from shipping activities. SP 3 also aims to use demonstrations of innovative finance to harness the private sector and build public-private partnerships.

With respect to SP 3, the Fund will demonstrate both the feasibility of innovative technical solutions, as well as innovative financing solutions, which accelerate investments in wastewater structures that reduce pollution/contamination of an international water body.

7. Partnership Investment Fund Approval

On the basis of the submission of this Brief, the GEF Council is requested to:

- 1. Approve the strategy, objectives, design, types of sub-projects, and sub-project eligibility criteria for the Fund;
- 2. Approve \$35 million of GEF resources to be immediately available to co-finance sub-projects under the first tranche of the Fund.

In the future, it is intended that the World Bank would request approval from GEF Council for a second and, subsequently, a third tranche of this proposed Fund, up to a maximum of \$80 million. The conditions and procedures for requesting and approving the second and third tranches are described in detail in Section 9.

B. PARTNERSHIP INVESTMENT FUND DESCRIPTION

8. Objective of the Fund

To contribute to the Strategic Partnership's overall goal of catalyzing the sustainable development of large marine ecosystems of East Asia, the objective of the proposed WB/GEF Partnership Investment Fund for Pollution Reduction in the Large Marine Ecosystems of East Asia is to reduce land-based pollution discharges that have an impact on the seas of East Asia by leveraging investments in pollution reduction through the removal of technical, institutional, and financial barriers. Expected outcomes of the Fund would be increased investment in activities that reduce land-based pollution and the replication of cost-effective pollution reduction technologies and techniques demonstrated by the Fund.

To measure progress in achieving the Fund's targets, quantitative and qualitative indicators would be used. These include, but are not limited to, reduction in the discharge of BOD, P and N to the marine environment, the level of replication of pollution-reducing sub-projects, the degree of awareness of environmental issues (e.g. as measured by the number of visitors to environmental centers, the amount of coverage of environmental issues by the press), and the amount of financing and rate of disbursement secured for replicated environmental projects.

A detailed set of monitoring and evaluation criteria have been prepared for the Fund in the World Bank logical framework format (refer Annex 3). It is intended that the use of this format would facilitate the adoption of the relevant criteria by each sub-project prepared using Bank appraisal guidelines, thereby providing a consistent approach to monitoring the outcomes of the Fund. Sub-projects would be encouraged to develop additional criteria where necessary to address any local monitoring needs.

9. Design of the Fund

A total GEF commitment of \$80 million in grant financing is requested to finance the Fund, which would also be co-financed by an anticipated US\$ 800 million to US\$ 1.5 billion investment envelope from the IBRD, IDA, national counterpart funding, and other sources, including private sector finance. The GEF co-financing would be committed to the Fund in 3 tranches, as follows:

• Tranche 1: US\$35 million (current submission)

• Tranche 2: US\$30 million (projected date of request to GEF Council: FY08)

• Tranche 3: US\$15 million (projected date of request to GEF Council: FY10)

Total: US\$80 million

The Fund would co-finance the implementation of individual investment sub-projects up to a maximum of approximately \$5 million of GEF grant financing per sub-project. ¹⁵ In addition,

¹⁵ The amount of \$5 million per sub-project has been chosen as a guideline for individual sub-project teams because it allows GEF financing to be allocated to a considerable number of sub-projects (16), while not being diluted to

GEF financing would support individual sub-project information dissemination and replication activities. All sub-projects would comprise part of or be associated with a specific World Bank lending operation and therefore only IBRD/IDA eligible countries would be eligible to request investment financing under the Fund.

Prior to requesting the second and subsequent tranches of funding from GEF Council, the Fund would ensure that:

- At least two of the sub-projects under the current tranche had been approved by the World Bank Board;
- At least three sub-projects intended for financing under the requested tranche had achieved pipeline entry from GEF and were under active preparation;
- A progress report was prepared and submitted to GEF Council detailing the status of the Fund, including: progress on achieving the Fund's leveraging targets; preparation and/or implementation status of the projects under the current tranche; a description of the sub-project pipeline for the requested tranche; any proposed changes to the eligibility criteria, design or implementation arrangements in order to further refine the design of the Fund; and, a description of the coordination activities carried out by the Fund with other key partners. Where replication of any technology/technique tested under the Fund has taken place directly as a result of the Fund's activities, this would also be reported to GEF Council.

The GEF Council would approve subsequent tranches subject to the availability of funds. A mid-term stock-taking review meeting would be held after three years to review progress of the Fund.

10. Types of Sub-projects

The types of sub-projects that would be eligible for financing under the Fund are World Bank projects that would demonstrate innovative, cost-effective solutions for reducing land-based pollution and/or would remove significant barriers to investments in land-based pollution reduction of the marine environment. Each sub-project would include investments in one or more of the following types of activities:

- *Innovative financing mechanisms*: improving access to finance for rural and urban land-based pollution reduction projects through implementation of revolving funds, cross-sectoral financing, and other financing innovations;
- Wastewater and sanitation management and treatment: demonstration and use of innovative technology and innovative methods for wastewater and sanitation management (e.g., construction of engineered wetlands, construction of combined wastewater/septage treatment plants, enhancements to existing infrastructure and systems to improve their efficiency; improvements in the efficiency of septage collection services);

levels where it loses effectiveness. Final allocation of resources would only be made upon World Bank appraisal of each individual sub-project.

- Water-borne pollution from solid waste: leachate control programs for landfills and dump closures;
- *Pollution control in rural and peri-urban areas*: systematic treatment of livestock waste, cost-effective approaches for agricultural and aquaculture pollution control, innovative management systems for collection and treatment of waste from agro-industries;
- *Coastal ecosystem management*: wetland creation, restoration, and preservation; education and awareness projects; information exchange and sharing;
- *Institutional reform*: utility reform, institutional rationalization, establishing links and creating opportunities for collaboration between NGOs, government agencies, and private companies;
- Capacity building: consultancies, training programs, dissemination of best practices;
- *Policy and planning improvements*: improving legal, regulatory, and policy climate through innovative changes;
- *Management reforms*: establishment of public-private partnerships and private sector management concessions for pollution control.

Where appropriate, cross-sectoral approaches would be encouraged, such as integrated water resource management and environmental protection, especially in land-based pollution hotspots.

11. Sub-project Financing and Cost Effectiveness

The Fund would seek to invest in World Bank projects with a target co-financing ratio of 1:10 (GEF:IBRD/IDA/other financing. Lower targets may be accepted on individual sub-projects on an exception basis if the expected benefits of the activity warrant such an exception. However, a minimum leveraging ratio of 1:3 is proposed for any sub-project. While the overall target for the Fund is, on average, 1:10, sub-projects already under preparation indicate that a higher leveraging ratio may be achieved; it is currently expected that the total co-financing for the first tranche would be at least US\$620 million from IBRD, IDA, international donor sources, private sector investment and other co-financing. The total GEF co-financing over three tranches of the Fund would be US\$80 million, with an expected total investment of between US\$800 million and US\$1.5 billion.

At sub-project level, feasibility studies for lending operations would take into consideration the value-added benefits that GEF-financed activities could bring, and would prioritize the most cost-effective interventions. A pragmatic approach to cost-effectiveness, bearing in mind the difficulty in measuring the outcomes of some activities such as capacity building and policy changes, would be employed.

12. Sub-project Eligibility Criteria

A set of eligibility criteria has been developed for the Fund. These criteria, once adopted through the GEF Council approval of this Brief, would serve as the criteria under which the GEF CEO would assess the eligibility of each sub-project for financing under the Fund.

A proposed World Bank project would be eligible to request GEF co-financing from the Fund for a specific proposed investment if all of the following seven conditions are met. The investment:

- Would be located within the coastal watersheds of one of the six East Asian LMEs: East China Sea, South China Sea, Yellow Sea, Sulu-Celebes Sea, Gulf of Thailand, and the Indonesian Seas;
- Would demonstrate an innovative technical, institutional, or financial mechanism to combat land-based water pollution, and/or would remove a significant technical, institutional, or financial barrier that reduces cost-effective investments in pollution control in that location;
- Would have high likelihood of replication and/or scalability in that country and/or more widely in East Asia coastal regions;
- Would be unlikely to proceed unless grant financing from GEF were allocated to it;
- Would have necessary co-financing available;
- Would have been endorsed by the proposing country's GEF focal point.
- Would meet all relevant World Bank appraisal criteria.

13. Sub-project Processing Procedure

Individual sub-projects requesting co-financing from GEF under the Fund would be processed according to *streamlined* WB/GEF procedures. Generally, they would be processed as part of a larger World Bank project. The primary difference between the Fund procedures and normal WB/GEF processing procedures is that, following GEF pipeline entry, sub-projects under the Fund would not be submitted to the GEF Council for approval through standard work programs at Council Meetings or Inter-sessionals. Rather, upon completion of sub-project preparation, the World Bank would submit eligible sub-projects directly to the GEF CEO for endorsement. The GEF CEO would approve individual sub-projects on a rolling basis until the funding limit of each Fund tranche had been reached. The Fund procedures can therefore be summarized as follows:

- 1. Project concept proposed by potential recipient and World Bank task team;
- 2. Screening of project concept by Fund management team against eligibility criteria;
- 3. Preparation of project concept note (WB) and pipeline entry (GEF);

- 4. Request for GEF project pipeline entry and preparation grants through the Fund management team;
- 5. Quality enhancement review;
- 6. Project Appraisal Document (PAD) preparation and review;
- 7. Appraisal;
- 8. Negotiation;
- 9. GEF CEO endorsement;
- 10. Bank Board submission and approval;
- 11. Signing and effectiveness;
- 12. Supervision;
- 13. Mid-term review and amendments:
- 14. Project closing;
- 15. OED evaluation.

14. Sub-projects Under Preparation

An initial pipeline of sub-projects for the Fund has been under development for twelve months, in parallel with the preparation of the Brief. In that time, there has been significant interest shown by the World Bank's client countries to obtain GEF co-financing from the Fund.

Three representative sub-projects were approved for GEF pipeline entry in the first six months of 2005 and are now under preparation. A number of additional sub-projects are under identification or preliminary discussion. Once their concepts have been fully developed, they would be screened by the Fund and submitted to GEF for pipeline entry. The GEF-financed activities under the sub-projects already admitted to the pipeline are as follows: 16

- 1. *PHILIPPINES: Manila Third Sewerage*: Removal of institutional and technical barriers that limit cost-effective investment in wastewater and sanitation management in Metro Manila through institutional reorganization, improved planning, and demonstration of cost-effective wastewater and septage management technologies and techniques.
- 2. *CHINA: Ningbo Water and Environment*: Demonstration of innovative technological solutions to wastewater management through the construction of a pilot engineered wetland as tertiary treatment at a coastal wastewater treatment plant, and protection of coastal ecosystems through the establishment of a Wetland Conservation and Environmental Education Center.
- 3. *VIETNAM: Vietnam Coastal Cities*: Demonstration of innovative technological solutions to wastewater management through the construction of a chemically enhanced primary wastewater treatment plant to evaluate the viability, cost-effectiveness, and nutrient removal capability of this technology, which is new to Vietnam.

These sub-projects illustrate one of the key financing priorities identified by SDS-SEA, the *scaling up of public and private sector investment* in identified pollution hotspots through the removal of barriers that prevent investment, and through the development of cost-effective

¹⁶ The Project Concept Notes for the sample projects are attached as annexes to this Brief.

technologies and techniques. In these three projects, the GEF grant would be used to co-finance construction of pilot wastewater and septage management and treatment systems, or finance studies and capacity building that would support significant institutional change resulting in the removal of identified barriers to investment. The clients for these projects are public organizations and each of these activities forms part of a significant IBRD lending operation. Concept notes for these three projects are attached in Annex 4 for reference and Table 1 below provides a summary of the expected financing for each of these projects.

Table 1: Pipeline for First Tranche

	GEF pipeline entry received?	Expected World Bank Board Date	Proposed GEF co-financing (\$ million)	IBRD/IDA co- financing (\$ million)	Other co- financing (\$ million)	Ratio of GEF financing to leveraged co- finance
PH: GEF - Manila Third Sewerage	Yes	05/2006	5	62	22	1: 17
CN: Ningbo Water and Environment	Yes	05/2006	5	130	161.5	1: 58
VN: Vietnam Coastal Cities	Yes	09/2006	5	120	30	1: 32

In parallel to the development of these activities, the Bank has been working to identify methods for addressing a second financing priority identified by SDS-SEA: the need to find effective mechanisms for the large constituency of small pollution reduction projects that currently do not have access to suitable funding sources. Many possible financial mechanisms are available to address this issue, and the Bank is committed, through the Fund, to use its knowledge and financial leveraging power to assist the countries identify and pilot such mechanisms. It is envisaged that a series of revolving fund sub-projects using resources from the Fund would be developed to test these financial mechanisms.

The first of these sub-projects is the *Project Preparation Revolving Fund*, which is being developed on the thesis developed from World Bank experience that the critical problem for small projects is not the lack of available funding, but rather the small project proponents' *lack of access* to existing funding. While still only at pre-feasibility stage, it is intended that the Project Preparation Revolving Fund would be an intermediary between the target clients (small-scale pollution reduction project proponents) and existing financing sources, i.e., it would be positioned as a main street institution that has the outreach (urban and rural) and the mandate to work with the target clients.

The benefits of the Project Preparation Revolving Fund are expected to include:

• Establishment of a high-capacity organization that would set internationally acceptable standards for project identification and preparation, thereby lowering the investment risk of

- Building of local capacity within the region for project identification, preparation and appraisal;
- Reducing the preparation risk for project proponents through allowing them to borrow from the Revolving Fund for project preparation rather than the status quo, which generally involves proponents carrying project preparation risk on their balance sheet;
- Establishing a strong track record of well-prepared small-scale projects in East Asia that would form the foundation for future scaling-up of the effort and leveraging of more sophisticated funding sources such as multilateral lines of credit, export financing, private sector investment, etc.;
- High potential for replication of other activities carried out under the Fund using the Project Preparation Revolving Fund as a vehicle for identifying and preparing new projects that would be financed by private, public or international financing.

C. IMPLEMENTATION

15. Implementation Arrangements

The implementing agency for the Fund would be the World Bank through its East Asia and Pacific Region. The East Asia and Pacific Urban Development Sector Unit (EASUR) of the World Bank would manage the Fund and coordinate its activities, having led the development of the Fund and the establishment of critical linkages with members of the proposed Regional Component.

Individual sub-projects would be implemented by selected agencies within the recipient countries. World Bank project task teams would be responsible for appraising and supervising each sub-project and for coordinating with the Fund management team on sub-project results.

The World Bank's Fund management team would liaise on a regular basis with the Regional Component through its meetings, and through consultation with the Regional Resource Facility to be established under the proposed Regional Component.

16. Monitoring and Evaluation

All sub-projects co-financed by the Fund would be required to adopt consistent monitoring and evaluation, replication and information dissemination protocols such that the regional benefits of the Fund could be fully realized. Monitoring and evaluation would be conducted in conformity with GEF International Waters guidance against three sets of indicators: those embedded in the SDS-SEA which are relevant to the Fund, those specifically developed for the Fund, and those developed at sub-project level. The Fund indicators can be found in Annex 3. The responsibilities for monitoring and evaluation are established as described below.

Each sub-project financed under the Fund would be responsible for:

- Adopting monitoring & evaluation (M&E) indicators consistent with the Fund's M&E criteria:
- Developing an M&E plan during project preparation;
- Establishing baseline data during project preparation;
- Providing M&E data on an annual basis to the Fund.

The World Bank's Fund management team would be responsible for the following:

- Collating monitoring and evaluation results from sub-projects;
- Reporting results to GEF and the Regional Component on an annual basis.

17. Replication

The Fund is designed to finance new technologies and techniques in East Asian coastal areas as a way to demonstrate appropriate and cost-effective solutions for reducing land-based marine pollution. As a result, the potential of any sub-project activity to be replicated within the country and region is extremely important to the overall success of the Fund and its ability to meet its objectives. Replication potential is therefore listed as one of the eight eligibility criteria for a sub-project's inclusion for financing under the Fund. One of the primary methods through which replication is expected to occur is the series of revolving fund sub-projects described in Section 14.

Responsibilities for replication are established as follows:

Each sub-project financed under the Fund would be responsible for the following:

- During sub-project preparation, the proponent would prepare a replication strategy to be carried out during implementation. In preparing the replication strategy, the project proponent would make a general assessment of the potential for the pilot technology/technique to be replicated in coastal areas in their country, the possible reduction in land-based pollution resulting from replication, and the specific activities to be undertaken during project implementation to promote replication (e.g. workshops, presentations, and technical publications). Implementation of the replication strategy would be included as a legally-binding activity under the project's legal agreement.
- During sub-project implementation, the project proponent would implement the replication strategy and report the results to the Fund.

The Fund would be responsible for the following:

• During sub-project selection and determination of eligibility, the Fund would assess, based on available information and international experience and best practice, the potential for

• During sub-project implementation, the Fund would coordinate each sub-project's contribution to regional or international workshops and conferences. National and local workshops would be coordinated by each sub-project and the Fund would inform the Regional Component and GEF of the details of the activities.

18. Dissemination

Dissemination of sub-project results would be provided to support each sub-project's replication strategy. In general, each sub-project would be responsible for preparing information about the sub-project and its results in a format agreed with the Fund. Collation of this information from all sub-projects would be the responsibility of the Fund. Formal publication would be the responsibility of GEF and the Regional Component.

Dissemination of information would primarily occur through three channels:

- A website developed for each sub-project;
- The GEF website, IW:LEARN, which is GEF's pre-eminent communication/dissemination tool in its International Waters program. This web resource has been created by GEF to stimulate and facilitate exchange of experiences and lessons learned among different International Waters projects;
- The tri-annual East Asia Seas Congress.

Each sub-project under the Fund would be responsible for the following:

- Developing a sub-project website;
- Providing case study information to the Fund in an agreed format at key times during sub-project preparation, implementation and completion in the language of the country and in English;
- Participating in a tri-annual East Asia Seas Congress through a poster display and workshop presentation.

The Fund would be responsible for the following:

- Distributing information from all sub-projects to IW:LEARN;
- Monitoring IW:LEARN to ensure that sub-project information remains up to date;
- Coordinating sub-project participation in the East Asia Seas Congress.

19. Scaling up of monitoring and evaluation, replication, and dissemination

It is anticipated that a Regional Resource Facility would be established under the proposed Regional Component. This would provide the opportunity to significantly scale up the Fund's monitoring and evaluation, replication, and dissemination efforts. In particular, it is envisaged that the Regional Resource Facility would be responsible for the following:

- Collating M&E results relating to SDS-SEA in annual progress reports.
- Evaluating, preparing and disseminating good practices, lessons learned, and/or case studies from individual sub-projects under the Fund;
- Promoting the replication of good practices.

20. Sustainability

The Fund's monitoring and evaluation strategy would address three aspects of sustainability: (1) financial; (2) stakeholder ownership; and (3) institutional framework and governance. With the aim of addressing sustainability early in the project cycle, the Fund would focus on these three aspects at inception. Given the importance of measuring sustainability from outcomes beyond the implementation period, the Regional Component would monitor the long-term effects of the Fund after the ten-year implementation period.

Each sub-project under the Fund would achieve environmental and social sustainability through application of the World Bank Safeguards Policies.

Financial sustainability would be achieved through ensuring that appropriate financial analysis is conducted during sub-project preparation according to World Bank financial appraisal procedures. For technology investments, this would ensure that the sub-project proponent has sufficient cost recovery to ensure sustainable operation.

Implementation sustainability would be achieved through embedding each sub-project within a larger World Bank project to ensure the continuity of the implementation arrangements.

Finally, the Fund would be incorporated into CASs, included in country dialogue, and integrated into the lending program of each participating country, to ensure long-term sustainability of the objectives of the SDS-SEA.

21. Critical Risks and Controversial Aspects

The following risks and proposed mitigation measures have been identified:

Risks	Risk Mitigation Measures	Risk Rating with Mitigation
To Fund objectives		
That the Regional Component would not be approved by GEF and/or could not undertake the activities assigned to it in support of the Fund	Collaboration by World Bank staff with PEMSEA in Regional Component design; continued support and interaction with the Regional Component under its implementation.	L
Sub-projects do not comply with replication and dissemination requirements	Include replication and dissemination requirements as legal covenants under Grant Agreements, encourage close collaboration between the Fund and World Bank teams on the development and implementation of replication and dissemination strategies.	L
To sub-project results		
Sub-project level governance issues	Close supervision of fiduciary and safeguard issues	M
Slow implementation due to lack of counterpart funding	Financial analysis during appraisal	L
Sub-project results found to be difficult to replicate	Encourage early consultation within region and between sub-projects to ensure maximum information dissemination and experience-sharing	М
Overall risk rating	Modest	M

22. Stakeholder Consultation

Stakeholder involvement is an extremely important part of the Fund and has been designed to be included during all activities conducted under the Fund. Responsibilities for stakeholder consultation are as follows:

Each sub-project would be responsible for:

- Conducting stakeholder consultation on the proposed investments in accordance with World Bank Operational Policies;
- Preparing a stakeholder consultation plan during sub-project preparation and implementing the plan during sub-project implementation.

The Fund would be responsible for:

• Consulting with target countries during the tri-annual CAS process on the higher-level objectives of the Fund and proposed Fund investments in that country.